RECEIVED 07-20-2015

07-20-201

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 15AP863-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BARBARA THIRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order for Restitution Entered In Waupaca County, the Honorable Raymond Huber Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JAYMES FENTON Attorney State Bar No. 1084265

P.O. Box 1194 Appleton, WI 54912 920-370-9750 fentonlawoffice@gmail.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Is Thiry responsible for reimbursing Waupaca County under Wis. Stat. § 173.24 for the costs of boarding five horses when, after a jury trial, she was convicted of only one count related to one specific horse and acquitted of all charges relating to the remaining horses?

The circuit court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested as the case can be decided by the parties' briefs. Because this is an appeal of a misdemeanor conviction, it is to be determined by a single appellate judge, and therefore, is ineligible for publication under Wis. Stat. § 809.23 (1)(b).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant-Appellant, Barbara Thiry, was charged in a criminal complaint filed on October 9, 2013. (R. 2). The complaint alleged 15 criminal violations, specifically; five counts of Intentionally Failing to Provide Food for an Animal, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 951.13(1), five counts of Negligently Providing Improper Outdoor Animal Shelter, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 951.14(2)(b)1, and five counts of Mistreating Animals-Intentionally or Negligently, contrary to Wis. Stat § 951.02. (R. 2). The three different types of charges all correlated to one specific horse. (R. 2). The names of the five horses named in the complaint are; BiBi, Lady, Rebecca, Ruby, and Two Socks. (R. 2). Thiry entered pleas of not guilty to all 15 counts. (R. 49).

The case eventually proceeded to a jury trial which took place from July 30, 2014 to August 1, 2014. (R. 55-57). Following the close of the State's case, all five counts of Negligently Providing Improper Outdoor Animal Shelter were dismissed, as were two other counts relating to the horse "Two Socks." (R. 56: 70-74). After deliberations, the jury found Thiry guilty of only one of the remaining counts. (R. 57: 8-9). Thiry was convicted of count 4 in the criminal complaint, Intentionally Failing to Provide Food for an Animal in reference to the horse named "Lady." (R. 57: 8).

Following the jury's verdict the court entered a judgment of guilt against Thiry on count 4. (R. 57: 12). The court proceeded to sentencing that same day. (R. 57:15). The court withheld sentence and placed Thiry on probation for one year. (R. 57: 24).

On October 27, 2014 a restitution hearing was held. (R. 59, Appx. 101). At the hearing, the state presented evidence that the five horses had been seized by the county at the outset of the criminal case against Thiry. (R. 59: 3-4, Appx. 103-104). Evidence was entered showing the total cost incurred by the county for care and maintenance of the five horses was \$9,020.51. (R. 59: 11, Appx. 111). The state noted for the court that Thiry had already paid \$3,850.00 to the county as the result of a prior civil order requiring monthly payments for the care of the horses. (R. 59: 3-4, 11; Appx. 103-04, 111). The state sought a restitution order for the remaining balance in the amount of \$5,170.51. (R. 59: 13, Appx. 113).

Trial counsel for Thiry detailed for the court the line item total for costs incurred by the county for the horse "Lady." (R. 59: 15-16, Appx. 115-116). This amount totaled \$905.47. (R. 59: 16, Appx. 116). This total, as it related to Lady, was not in dispute. (Id.).

The court relied upon Wis. Stat. 173.24 when issuing its decision. (Id.). The court reasoned that the statute does not indicate that the expenses of an animal which there was no conviction for shouldn't be assessed so long as there was a conviction under chapter 951 of the Wisconsin statutes. (R. 59: 17, Appx. 117). Consequently, the court ordered restitution in the amount of \$5,170.51. (Id.).

Thiry now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN
ISSUING A RESTITUTION ORDER IN
THE AMOUNT OF \$5,170.51 BECAUSE
THIRY WAS ACQUITTED OF ALL
CHARGES RELATING TO FOUR OF HER
HORSES.

The trial court incorrectly ordered restitution in the amount of \$5,170.51. Thiry's counsel correctly calculated the restitution owed as \$905.47 because she is only required to pay restitution for charges that resulted in a conviction.

Because of the unique nature of this case and the issue at hand, no case law exists that is directly on point. As such, the court must rely upon a statutory interpretation of the statute at issue.

This case presents an issue of statutory interpretation. A question of statutory interpretation is a question of aw that is reviewed independently of the lower court's ruling. *State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶16, 646 N.W.2d 341.

When interpreting a statute, the reviewing court must begin with the language used in the statute and determine if the meaning is plain. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 681 N.W.2d 110. Statutory language is reviewed based on its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning. *Id.* When determining the plain meaning of a particular statute, a court may consider the scope, context, and purpose of the statute. *Id.* at ¶48. The plain

meaning of a statute is not determined in a vacuum. *Osterhues v. Bd. Of Adjustment,* 2005 WI 92, ¶24, 698 N.W.2d 701 (citing *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, ¶46). Statutory language should be interpreted in the context in which it is used and in relation to the language of surrounding or closely related statutes. *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58 at ¶46. Examining the context of a statute is done to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. *Id*.

In *Kalal* the Supreme Court provided the method to be used when addressing issues of statutory interpretation. According to *Kalal*, the purpose of statutory interpretation is "to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." *Id.* at ¶44.

A. Under the plain meaning of Wis. Stat. § 173.24, Thiry can only be ordered to pay resititution for "Lady".

The relevant sections of the statute at issue read as follows:

- (1) A court shall assess the expenses under this section in any case . . . in which an animal has been seized because it is alleged that the animal has been used in or constitutes evidence of any crime under ch. 951.
- (3) If the person alleged to have violated ch.951 is found guilty of the violation, the personal shall be assessed the expenses under subs (1) and (2). If the person is not found guilty, the county treasurer shall pay the expenses from the general fund of the county.

Wis. Stat §§ 173.24 (1) & (3).

1. The language used in § 173.24.

Subsection (1) of § 173.24 states that expenses shall be assessed when "the animal" (emphasis added) has been used in or is evidence of a crime under chapter 951 of the statutes. Wis. Stat. § 173.24 (1). Subsection (3) of § 173.24 states that if the defendant is found guilty of "the violation" (emphasis added), the person shall be assessed the expenses. Wis. Stat. § 173.24 (3).

The statute uses the word "the" to specify a specific animal. Subsection (1) refers to "the animal" that has been seized as evidence of a crime under ch. 951, and subsection (3) refers to "the violation" of ch. 951. The use of this language indicates the legislature intended that the defendant should only be assessed the costs associated with the specific animal for which there was a conviction under ch. 951.

There is no additional language within § 173.24 that would indicate that a defendant should be responsible for costs relating to animals for which there was an acquittal. Rather, the statute allows for expenses to be assessed when a specific animal that constitutes evidence of a crime under ch. 951 has been seized, and that the alleged violation for which the animal has been seized results in a conviction.

The statute provides only for expenses to be paid by the defendant when the costs incurred by the county were related to a charge which ultimately resulted in a conviction. Here, Thiry was convicted of only one charge as it related to a specific horse, meaning that she is only to be assessed the expenses incurred by the county for the care and maintenance of that specific horse.

Further, by providing that the county shall bear the incurred expenses in the result of an acquittal, the legislature

indicates that it is seeking to limit the situations in which the defendant is responsible for these costs. By including this provision, the legislature has required the state to obtain a conviction to recoup the expenses incurred from seizing an animal from its owner.

2. Examination of the most closely related statute

As noted above, when determining the plain meaning of a statute, the reviewing court should look to surrounding or closely related statutes to determine the context of the statute at issue. *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58 at ¶46. The purpose or scope of a statute may be apparent from its relationship to closely related statutes. *Id.* at ¶49.

Here, the general criminal restitution statute found under § 973.20 serves as a closely related statute to §173.24 and would be beneficial in examining to determine the purpose and scope of § 173.24. Examining § 973.20 is important in this case because it establishes the circumstances in which a court can ordinarily order a criminal defendant to restitution.

§ 973.20 provides for a method for the court to order a defendant to pay restitution to any victims of the underlying criminal act. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.20. Under the restitution statute, the court can order restitution for any crime considered at sentencing. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r). A crime considered at sentencing is any crime that the defendant was convicted of, or any crime that was read-in by the state as a result of a plea agreement. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a) & (b). Crimes for which the defendant was acquitted, or that were dismissed but not read-in cannot be used to calculate restitution. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.20.

Here, had the trial court been required to rely on § 973.20 to order restitution, the order would only have been applicable to the horse "Lady", as "Lady" was the only animal of which Thiry was convicted of neglecting or abusing. The expenses incurred by the county for the other four horses would have not have been counted under crimes that can be considered at sentencing because the charges relating to those horses did not result in convictions nor were those charges read-in pursuant to a plea agreement.

Interpreting the plain meaning of § 173.24 within the context of the closely related statute of § 973.20 it is clear that the legislature did not intend to expand upon § 973.20, but rather to establish that the county could be treated like a victim of a crime and be compensated for its losses in a manner consistent with the method in which victims are ordinarily compensated. Had the legislature intended for courts to interpret § 173.24 as an expansion of § 973.20 for animal neglect and abuse cases, it would have made that purpose clear.

3. Avoiding an absurd or unreasonable result

It is important to reasonably interpret a statute to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. *Kalal*, 2004 WI at ¶46.

Here, the circuit court, in its interpretation of § 173.24, produced an absurd result by allowing restitution to be ordered for animal neglect crimes of which the defendant was acquitted. § 173.24 does not clearly indicate a legislative intent to expand upon § 973.20. Allowing such a reading would produce the absurd result of requiring restitution for acquitted or dismissed charges in animal neglect and abuse cases. This result contradicts the clear purpose of § 973.20, and creates an exception to the rule that a defendant is not

responsible for restitution in charges which resulted in an acquittal.

There is no indication within § 173.24 that it was designed to create a scenario where a defendant could be ordered to pay restitution for charges that were ultimately dismissed or where the defendant was acquitted at trial, and a ruling from this court to the contrary would create an absurd and unreasonable outcome.

CONCLUSION

The full, proper, and intended effect of § 173.24 is assess to a criminal defendant the expenses incurred in the maintenance of a seized animal only when the defendant was convicted of a criminal act related to that particular animal.

For all the reasons stated, the Defendant-Appellant, Barbara Thiry, respectfully asks this court to vacate the imposed restitution order and issue an order of restitution in the amount of \$905.47, the total cost incurred by the county for the care and maintenance of "Lady."