RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-13-2015**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 15AP863-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BARBARA THIRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Judgment of Conviction and Order for Restitution Entered in Waupaca County, the Honorable Raymond Huber, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

James H. Fassbender Assistant District Attorney State Bar ID: 1005629 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

811 Harding Street Waupaca, WI 54981 (715) 268-6444 james.fassbender@da.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is the defendant herein responsible for reimbursing the County for the care of animals which correspond to counts for which the defendant was acquitted by the jury? The Circuit Court answered this question in the affirmative.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The State is not requesting oral argument in this case. It presents an issue of statutory interpretation which does not necessarily lend itself to oral argument.

Rather, the State believes that the issue can be presented and addressed adequately in written argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

This case presents an issue for which no precedent directly on point could be found. A decision in this case could present a substantial and important addition to the *corpus juris* of this state and provide guidance to the circuit courts below.

STATEMENT ON THE CASE AND FACTS

The State has no disagreement with the factual and procedural history of this case relevant to this appeal presented by the Defendant-Appellant; and therefore declines to make any further statement on the case. Any additional facts from the record below will be referenced (TR: X, p-pp).

ARGUMENT

I. REFERENCING §973.20, WIS. STATS., FOR GUIDANCE IS INAPPROPRIATE, AS THAT SECTION DOES NOT APPLY TO THE ORDER AT ISSUE HERE.

In her brief in chief, the Defendant/Appellant makes reference, somewhat in passing, to §973.20, Wis. Stats., which relates to requiring restitution as a condition of sentence. However, it is clear, based upon both the plain language of that statute, and case law from the State Supreme Court, that restitution can only be ordered on counts for which there is a conviction, which are read-in or for which the defendant was willing to stipulate that restitution could be ordered.

State v. Frey, 343 Wis.2d 358, 817 N.W.2d 436 (2012). While the sentencing court can consider the facts supporting those counts for other aspects of sentence, restitution relating to those counts cannot be ordered.

However, there is another reason why any reference made to that section is inappropriate. While the Court repeatedly made reference to the figures as representing restitution, that is not an accurate statement or assessment. Rather, the costs involved really represent something more akin to investigatory expenses and other routine expenses relating to law enforcement or investigation. As such, those costs cannot be ordered as restitution. State v. Storke, 256 Wis.2d 500, 647 N.W.2d 926 (Ct.App. 2002). Rather, such costs, in most cases, represent collateral expenses. See also: State v. Vanbeek, 316 Wis.2d 527, 765 N.W.2d 834 (Ct.App.

2009) and cases cited therein; State v. Evans, 181 Wis.2d 978, 512 N.W.2d 259 (Ct.App. 1994). As such, they cannot be ordered as restitution, as the law enforcement agency in question would not be considered a victim for the purposes of restitution. State v. Vanbeek.

II. IMPOSITION OF THE COSTS IN THIS CASE FOR THE CARE OF ALL OF THE ANIMALS INVOLVED WOULD BE APPROPRIATE UNDER THE APPLICABLE STATUTES.

There are two applicable statute sections or provisions which would relate to costs or restitution imposed in this case. §951.18(4)(a)2, Wis. Stats., states:

"A sentencing court **shall** require a criminal violator to pay restitution to a person, including any local humane officer or society or county or municipal pound or a law enforcement officer or conservation warden, for any pecuniary loss suffered by the person **as a result of the crime**." (emphasis added)

Further, §173.24(1), Wis. Stats., states:

"A court shall assess expenses under this section in any case in which there has been a search authorized under §173.10 or in which an animal has been seized because it is alleged that **the animal has been used in or constitute evidence** of any crime under Chapter 951." (emphasis added)

These sections clearly address the problem described in the first section of this brief, wherein the investigating law enforcement agency would normally be precluded from recovering those costs. These sections specifically allow the agency to recoup those costs, to the extent, of course, that the offender can pay them.

Applying these provisions to the case at hand represents an issue of statutory construction or interpretation. As such, this court makes its own determination as to the application of the law with little or no difference to the court below. Wombolt v. West Bend Mutual Insurance Company, 299 Wis.2d 723, 728 N.W.2d 670 (2007), State v. Berndt, 161 Wis.2d 116, 467 N.W.2d (Ct.App. 1995). In interpreting the statutes the court looks to the plain meaning of the statute when it is not ambiguous. State v. Berndt. If the statute is found to be ambiguous, the court should endeavor to interpret the statute within context, looking to related statutes. State v. Kuenzi, 332 Wis.2d 297, 796 N.W.2d 222 (Ct.App. 2011). The Courts are also to look to the spirit of the law and what goal it was intended to accomplish. State v.Berndt.

First of all, it should be noted that this case was, essentially, commenced as a result of a search warrant that was obtained under §173.10, Wis. Stats. (TR 3: 1-18) (TR 55: p 133) Further, there was also an ancillary or parallel proceeding that was commenced wherein Circuit Judge John Hoffman ordered that the defendant herein be responsible for the payment of costs of maintaining the animals, that that three of the animals be disposed of at that time. (Appx p. 103)

The Court in this cased accepted those actions by the other Court as reasonable and appropriate. (Appx 116) Therefore, §173.24(1), Wis. Stats. would directly apply.

The question then becomes the significance of the jury's conviction of the defendant relating to one count for one of the five animals that were seized. The apparent lynch pin of the argument of the Defendant/Appellant is the significance of the phrase... "found guilty of <u>the</u> violation,..." (emphasis added). In §173.24(3), Wis. Stats.

As stated above these animals were seized as a result of a search warrant issued under §173.10, Wis. Stats. The seizure of those animals was accepted as justifiable in another proceeding. In this case, there is very limited case law. However, in State v. Berndt this court was faced with a situation in which there were in excess of thirty animals seized from the possession of the defendant. The defendant was ultimately convicted of three counts and assessed the costs of all of the animals as opposed to the three for which she was convicted. Unfortunately, that case is unclear as to whether that came about as a result of a plea agreement. Hence, resort to that case presents very little utility or value.

The State asserts that the argument of the Defendant/Appellant is far too simplistic. It assumes that there is automatically one count for each animal in a particular prosecution. In this particular case, that was, indeed, the case.

However, the State asserts that there can be situations where you have a large

number of small animals such as gerbils, hamsters and the like, as well as small birds such as parakeets, where the State would have the ability to charge one count collectively for all of the various animals. Further, the State further would submit that such charging discretion does not necessarily have to be relegated to areas where there are such small animals.

Where the defendant is charged with neglect of upwards of twenty or twenty-five such animals, such as the <u>Berndt</u> case, the State would have the option of charging the matter collectively. (Again, it is not clear from the opinion as to whether that is not what, indeed, was done there.) Therein, the jury could simply find that if any such animal were neglected, conviction would be appropriate. In that case, the costs of seizing of all of the animals would most certainly be appropriate. In such cases, it probably would not be possible to isolate which animals represents "the" animal unless a specific question were submitted to the jury.

It also ignores the language in §951.18(4)(a)2, Wis. Stats., which requires that "a sentencing court shall require <u>a criminal violator</u> to pay restitution..." (emphasis added) There is no reference to a particular animal. Rather, it calls for restitution to be paid where the losses in question are incurred as a reasonable part of the investigation. As also stated above, that is one of the factors that makes these proceedings unique. Under §973.20, Wis. Stats., such costs would not be recoverable, at least as restitution. In this case, there were five horses seized as a

result of the investigation and that, as noted by the sentencing court, another court

determined that the forfeiture of the horses was appropriate. (Appx. P. 117) In a

case such as that, it would hardly seem reasonable or appropriate to limit the

reimbursement for the cost to a particular animal. Rather, all of these horses

represented evidence of the crime when they were seized. Another court had

previously ordered that three of the horses be forfeited. As a result, payment for

the costs incurred for all of the animals would be appropriate.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the State prays that this Court enter an order

affirming the judgment of the circuit court below.